
 
 
 

MIAMI-DADE COUNTY 
FINAL OFFICIAL MINUTES 

Board of County Commissioners Zoning Board 
 
 

Board of County Commissioners 
Stephen P. Clark Government Center 

111 NW 1st Street 
Miami, Florida  33128 

 

 

May 17, 2012 
As Advertised  

 
Harvey Ruvin, Clerk 

Board of County Commissioners 
 

Christopher Agrippa, Division Chief 
Clerk of the Board Division 

 
 

Alicia Stephenson, Commission Reporter 
  (305) 375-1475 

 



CLERK’S SUMMARY AND OFFICIAL MINUTES 
BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS ZONING HEARING 

May 17, 2012 
 
 The Board of County Commissioners met in regular session in the County Commission 
Chambers on the Second Floor of the Stephen P. Clark Government Center, 111 NW First Street, 
Miami, Florida, at 9:30 a.m., on May 17, 2012, there being present upon roll call Chairman Joe 
A. Martinez; Vice Chairwoman Audrey M. Edmonson; and Commissioners Lynda Bell, Jean 
Monestime, Rebeca Sosa, Javier D. Souto, and Xavier L. Suarez; (Commissioner Sally Heyman 
was excused; Commissioners Bruno A. Barreiro, Esteban L. Bovo, Jose “Pepe” Diaz, Barbara J. 
Jordan, and Dennis C. Moss arrived late).  
 
Also present were: Assistant County Attorney Craig Coller; Mr. Eric Silva, Assistant Director, 
Community Planning Division of the Sustainability, Planning, and Economic Enhancement 
Department (SPEED);   SPEED Director Marc LaFerrier, and Deputy Clerks Doris Dickens and 
Alicia Stephenson were also present 
 
Chairman Martinez called the meeting to order at 10:05 a.m. and asked that a moment of silence 
be observed, followed by the Pledge of Allegiance.    
 
SPEED’s Office of Community Planning Interim Assistant Director Eric Silva, announced that 
in accordance with the Code of Miami-Dade County, all items on today’s (5/17) zoning agenda 
were legally advertised, notices were mailed, and the properties were posted. He noted additional 
copies of the agenda were available in the Chamber, and he presented the procedures to be 
followed during today’s proceedings.   
 
ALL WITNESSES WERE SWORN IN BY THE CLERK PRIOR TO MAKING THEIR  
TESTIMONIES BEFORE THE BOARD. 
 
ALL WITNESSES WERE SWORN IN BY THE DEPUTY CLERK BEFORE MAKING THEIR TESTIMONIES 
BEFORE THE BOARD. 
 
The official interpreters were sworn in by the Clerk. 
 
In response to Chairman Martinez’ question regarding any changes to the agenda, Assistant 
County Attorney Craig Coller advised that a request for withdrawal of an appeal had been made, 
which the Board may wish to consider first. 
 
1. KING METAL RECYCLING, LLC 
Mr. Augusto Maxwell, Attorney representing King Metal Recycling, LLC, appeared before the 
Board and stated that the company wished to withdraw its appeal of the Community Zoning 
Appeals Board’s (CZAB) resolution. 
 
In response to Chairman Martinez’ question regarding whether the CZAB resolution was for 
denial of the application, Mr. Eric Silva, SPEED’s Office of Community Planning Interim 
Assistant Director, noted that was correct.   

Clerk’s Summary and Official Minutes 
Board of County Commissioners Zoning Hearing 

May 17, 2012 
Page 1 of 9 



 
In response to Chairman Martinez’ inquiry regarding what it would mean if the Board approved 
the request to withdraw the appeal, Assistant County Attorney Coller advised that this 
application was previously approved and that administratively, the owner could continue 
conducting its activities; however, he had to make certain improvements to the property 
consistent with the previously approved plan.  He said that Departmental staff could outline 
those improvements. 
 
In response to Chairman Martinez’ question regarding whether, pursuant to the Board’s Rules of 
Procedure, Board approval of the owner’s request to withdraw its appeal of the CZAB resolution 
would mean that the appeal was no longer before the Board and therefore would become an 
administrative matter, Mr. Coller noted that was correct.     
 
Mr. Silva explained that the subject property was located on NW 36th Avenue.  He stated that in 
1950, the Board of County Commissioners (the Board) zoned this property and the other 
properties adjacent to the train tracks along NW 36th Avenue as industrial.  Mr. Silva indicated 
that in 1954, an application was approved to construct residences across from this property; 
require the developer to provide a landscaping buffer; and ensure the houses did not face any 
steel fabrication plant.  In 1955, he advised, a site plan for a steel fabrication plant on the subject 
property was approved.  According to Mr. Silva, in 1961 the owner requested a modification to 
expand the plant and a non-use variance submitted to allow steel fabrication within 64 feet of 
residences.  He explained that the plant was subsequently transferred to a new property owner, 
who requested permission in 2010 to perform metal recycling on the property, and who 
consequently submitted a site plan and a proposed use as part of a “substantial compliance 
process.” Mr.  Silva said staff approved the use under certain conditions, including that some of 
the buildings be demolished, parking issues be fixed, landscaping be added, and the operation be 
screened from view.  He advised that the property owner did not agree to the conditions, was 
denied by the CZAB after submitting his case to them, and subsequently appealed to the Board.  
Mr. Silva indicated that since then, the property owner had agreed to comply with the original 
conditions; and as part of a new substantial compliance process, had also agreed to replace 
missing metal slats on three sides of the building on the property and to border the property with 
an 8-foot wall.  
 
Mr. Maxwell confirmed that King Metal Recycling had agreed to the conditions, upon the advice 
of his lawyers. 
 
Mr. Silva responded to Chairman Martinez’ query regarding whether the owner would receive a 
permit once he complied with the conditions he agreed to.  He stated that currently, the owner 
was operating under a temporary Certificate of Use (CU) that would expire in two months; but if 
he complied with the conditions in the next two months, he would be issued a permanent CU. 
 
Pursuant to questions from Chairman Martinez regarding any options available to the Board to 
prevent the appeal from undergoing the administrative process, Assistant County Attorney Coller 
advised that even if the Board rejected the owner’s withdrawal and denied the application, the 
owner still had the “substantial compliance” administrative determination.  He confirmed that the 

Clerk’s Summary and Official Minutes 
Board of County Commissioners Zoning Hearing 

May 17, 2012 
Page 2 of 9 



Board would have no power to change the administrative proceedings. Mr. Coller indicated he 
believed someone could challenge the Department’s administrative process of determination, but 
no one had done so.  
 
In response to Commissioner Monestime’s inquiry as to what would happen if staff discovered 
that the owner had not complied with the conditions within the two months, Mr. Silva said this 
would be handled through the normal Code compliance process: the owner would be issued a 
warning and if he persisted, would receive a violation. 
 
Mr. Coller noted the owner could indicate his intended schedule for completing the required 
improvements, and said the Code contained a process that allowed an individual  to appeal 
his/her violation. 
 
Mr. Maxwell said the conditions imposed by staff would cost $400,000 to execute; and because 
the owner had been uncertain of his legal rights, he had not spent that money.  He said now that 
the administrative determination was made, the owner would complete these improvements in a 
timely manner in an effort to receive the CU.    
 
Commissioner Monestime stated that just a few days ago, a 210-day extension was granted to a 
company that had not complied with conditions.  He inquired whether a grace period would be 
granted to the owner if he did not comply within the two months.   
 
Mr. Silva noted the temporary CU would expire on July 27, 2012. 
 
In response to Commissioner Monestime’s inquiry as to the typical length of the extension 
granted to an entity or individual when their permit expired and they had not met the conditions 
established by staff, Mr. Silva noted it had been six months for a temporary CU.  
 
In response to Mr. Silva’s answer, Commissioner Monestime noted that the subject property 
could not continue in a mess indefinitely and that progress was subjective. He later noted he had 
no knowledge of how many times the owner could apply for extensions that would indefinitely 
draw out the process. Commissioner Monestime inquired whether some minimum requirements 
could be established that the owner had to meet to qualify for a permit. He indicated his question 
was in aid of ensuring that the residents of the area would know that progress would be made and 
could later see progress being made. 
 
Mr. Silva said that as the developer had an active permit to pave the entire site, it would be 
reasonable to require him to do that within the next two months. 
 
Mr. Maxwell indicated that the owner had permits to begin some of the required work, including 
the paving.  He said the owner would do that immediately.  Mr. Maxwell also indicated that the 
owner would submit an application for a permit to build a wall and enclose the building.   
 
Commissioner Monestime asked staff to keep him updated on the progress which the developer 
made to comply with the conditions. 

Clerk’s Summary and Official Minutes 
Board of County Commissioners Zoning Hearing 

May 17, 2012 
Page 3 of 9 



                                                                                    
 It was moved by Commissioner Monestime to approve Kin Metal Recycling’s request to 
withdraw its appeal of the decision of the Community Zoning Appeals Board (CZAB).  This 
motion was seconded by Commissioner Sosa, and upon being put to a vote, passed by a vote of 
11-0 (Commissioners Suarez, and Heyman were absent). 
 
During Chairman Martinez’ attempts to ensure that everyone who had signed up to speak 
understood what had just occurred, Ms. Dinet McCoy, 8543 NW 35 Place, stated that she 
believed King Metal Recycling was trying to bar the residents from testifying.  
 
In response to Commissioner Moss’ question regarding whether an administrative appeal process 
was available to the residents, Assistant County Attorney Coller advised that such a process 
existed for a substantial compliance determination, but he did not know whether that process was 
still available to the residents.  
 
Chairman Martinez noted for clarification that the appeal in question pertained to whether the 
company had complied with the department’s conditions, not to the company’s ability to get its 
application approved. 
 
Assistant County Attorney Coller said staff indicated that another, more recent substantial 
compliance determination was about to be published, and the residents would have 15 days to 
challenge it.  But, he pointed out, any challenge would be part of an administrative process.  Mr. 
Coller noted essentially, the CZAB’s decision would stand pursuant to the withdrawal of this 
appeal. 
 
Ms. McCoy, 8543 NW 35 Place, requested the Board members look at her petition, noting it 
read: “We the residents of the community of Elson Manors, also known as Broadmore 
community, request the denial of the appeal of King Metal Recycling, LLC to change the zoning 
of the area from GU to IU3 and to permit the facility to be spaced less than the required 500 feet 
distance from residences, to allow a lesser set back of the building from the property line, to 
permit less parking spaces than required, and to allow walls higher than required by Miami-Dade 
County’s Building and Zoning Department.  The reasons for the request are (1) damage to our 
homes from the constant vibrations coming from the recycling compactor, which leads to cracks; 
(2) constant noise on weekdays and weekends; (3) health problems arising or being aggravated 
by the particles of metals and dust floating in the environment, which are inhaled by residents; 
(4) fear of fire and explosion from torches; (5) constant traffic of large trucks on NW 36th 
Avenue, 83rd Street and 87th Street, ignoring traffic speeding signs near Madison Middle and 
Broadmore Elementary Schools; and (6) destruction of neighborhood streets.”  
 
Ms. McCoy said the residents of Elson Manors attended the January 2012 CZAB meeting at 
which the King Metal Recycling’s zoning change request was discussed.  She said the CZAB 
scheduled a follow-up meeting for February 2012, and prior to that meeting, the residents met on 
February 8, 2012 with their district commissioner. 
 

Clerk’s Summary and Official Minutes 
Board of County Commissioners Zoning Hearing 

May 17, 2012 
Page 4 of 9 



Commissioner Monestime clarified that when the residents came to his office, he asked them 
whether a zoning application was pending; and when they confirmed it was, he told them he 
could not discuss the matter with them, as they would have to appear before the Commission. In 
response to Chairman Martinez’ further explanation that the department’s administrative process 
now prevailed, Ms. McCoy said many residents were frustrated with the process and felt they 
had lost all ground, and the recycling plant had turned their lives upside down. 
 
Chairman Martinez asked Mr. Silva and Assistant County Attorney Coller to meet with Ms. 
McCoy. 
 
In response to Commissioner Sosa’s question as to when it was decided that these cases would 
fall under the authority of the Mayor, Assistant County Attorney Coller advised that the 
substantial compliance determination process had been in the Zoning Code for years, and was 
not based upon a Strong Mayor form of government.  He explained that according to this process 
an owner with prior approval who wished to make minor changes could have a determination 
made by the department that they were in substantial compliance with the prior approval. 
 
In response to Commissioner Souto’s inquiry as to how many extensions could be obtained by an 
entity attempting to fully comply with the County’s conditions, Assistant County Attorney Coller 
advised that Building Department staff determined what extensions to grant and for what amount 
of time. 
 
Commissioner Souto pointed out that three different extensions had been granted for the building 
on 4260 SW 111 Avenue, which had been in construction for the past four years.  Yet, he noted, 
the extensions were repeatedly violated, and were used by developers to buy time.  He stated that 
he became aware of the Administration’s decisions after the fact.  He opined that this was a 
travesty of the democratic process, involving a big bureaucracy which crushed the residents. 
 
Mr. Silva responded to Commissioner Moss’ query as to how staff would ensure that the 
required buffer, which would separate the business from the rest of the community, was 
maintained over time.  He explained that this type of buffer was enforced based on complaints 
and it was hard for staff to ensure that every buffer was maintained. Mr. Silva noted in the King 
Metal case, that the Administration realized the building had been improperly maintained only 
when the company underwent the substantial compliance process. 
 
Commissioner Moss observed that this was often the case with owners who believed that they 
had to comply with the conditions initially, but that they did not have to maintain the 
improvements on their properties.  He asked the department to examine the provisions of the 
Code to determine whether they addressed this issue. 
 
The foregoing appeal was withdrawn by the Board and set forth in the Record of Resolutions and 
assigned Zoning # Z-12-12. 
 
2. FONTAINEBLEAU LAKES, LLC ET AL 

Clerk’s Summary and Official Minutes 
Board of County Commissioners Zoning Hearing 

May 17, 2012 
Page 5 of 9 



Mr. Eric Silva, Assistant Director, Community Planning Division of the Sustainability, Planning, 
and Economic Enhancement Department (SPEED), read the foregoing application into the 
record, noting no protests or waivers had been filed regarding this application. 
 
Commissioner Souto read the applicant’s requests. He pointed out that Fontainebleau was 
strategically placed next to the airport and its population density was greater than that of any 
other community in the County. Consequently, he noted, the Board must ensure that any requests 
to modify it would not interfere with the residents’ lifestyle.  Commissioner Souto asked Board 
members to defer this item until they had sufficient information to consider it properly. 
 
Chairman Martinez requested that the applicant make its presentation regarding the application.  
 
Ms. Melissa Tapanes Llahues, Attorney with the law firm of Bercow, Radell and Fernandez, 
representing the Related Group and its affiliate, Fontainebleau LLC, owner of the 34-acre parcel 
located just south of State Road 836 between 97th Avenue and 87th Avenue and Fontainebleau 
Park, appeared before the Board.  She indicated that she was joined by George Gonzales of the 
Related Group, the project architect and engineer, as well as her partners.  The attorney stated 
that they had the full support of the area residents, including the “Keep the Bleau Green” 
committee.  She noted they had been working on this application since July 2011, had done 
extensive outreach into the community, and no protests or waivers had been filed.   
 
Ms. Tapanes Llahues advised that the applicant was requesting a site plan modification as well as 
certain associated unusual uses, and non-use variances for the 78-acre North East Golf Course of 
the 152-acre Fontainebleau East community.  She urged the Board members’ approval, 
consistent with the staff recommendations and the support of area residents.  Ms. Llahues noted 
that the property was designated medium-density residential, which permitted up to 1091 units.  
She said in 2006 the property was re-zoned to RU-4M and a site plan for 770 units was 
approved.   
 
Ms. Tapanes Llahues pointed out that the proposed site plan would reduce the density from 770 
units to 720 units; reduce the height from eight stories to three; and be carried out by the Related 
Group, which had a reputation of building iconic structures throughout the County.  She 
commented that 26 three-story residential buildings were proposed, as well as two resort-style 
club houses, and the intent was to maximize views of over 44 acres of green lawns, lakes and 
water features.  Ms. Tapanes Llahues asserted that numerous covenants proffered since 2006 had 
tied up the subject property and the 272-acres subject to the master plan, and each time one 
parcel of the 272 acres was modified the owner was required to enter into new covenants.  She 
communicated that for this reason, the applicant was seeking to release itself from three previous 
covenants in order to proffer a covenant superseding them, for purposes of clarifying the title.  
She later noted that the superseding covenant had been submitted and was part of the record, and 
it would carry over all of the requirements of the previous covenants. Ms. Llahues stated that the 
owner purchased the property in January 2012, and submitted applications for permits in March 
2012.  She stressed that this was a significant investment, worth over $120 million. 
  

Clerk’s Summary and Official Minutes 
Board of County Commissioners Zoning Hearing 

May 17, 2012 
Page 6 of 9 



Ms. Tapanes Llahues noted Requests 1 and 2 on the zoning hearing advertisement were for 
unusual uses to permit entrance features, lake excavations and lake fills.  She said that the fill 
generated from this lake excavation would be used to meet flood criteria requirements for the 
project and that filling portions of the existing lakes would provide additional lands. Upon 
completion, the developer would improve these areas with water features, jogging paths, and 
pedestrian walkways, she stated.  Ms. Tapanes Llahues indicated that requests 3 and 6 were to 
modify the 2006 approved plans and replace them with a new covenant; requests 7 to 9 were for 
variances to accommodate the uniqueness of the project; the parking variance was required 
because the owner would provide a number of parking spaces as garages; while 1,206 parking 
spaces were required, the owner would provide 1,124 surface parking spaces and an additional 
102 parking spaces within garages.  Ms. Tapanes Llahues indicated that the variance of the 
tennis court fence’s height was needed because the court abutted the canal right-of-way. 
 
Ms. Tapanes Llahues pointed out that all of these requests satisfied the County Code and were 
compatible with the area.  She stated that the covenant had been executed by all mortgagee, 
homeowner’s associations, property owners, and interest holders within the 272-acre 
development. 
 
Pursuant to Commissioner Edmonson’s question regarding whether Ms. Tapanes Llahues’ last 
statement meant that everyone within the development supported the application, Ms. Tapanes 
Llahues noted that was correct.  She noted the covenant also required the maintenance of the 
common areas, private drives, lakes and green areas within the property.  She urged the 
commissioners to proceed with this matter today (5/17), noting the developer was moving 
forward with Phase 1 at a $60 million cost.  She pointed out that the applicant was barred by the 
Jennings Rule from discussing this project further with the District Commissioner, but her entire 
team was present to answer any questions the commissioners might have. 
 
Chairman Martinez opened the public hearing on Application No.2 and the following persons 
appeared in support:  
 
1. Jesus Carcasses, 580 NW 99 PL, Fontainebleau, Miami 
2. Claude Fabre, 10464 NW 5 Terrace, Miami, FL  33172 
 
Chairman Martinez closed the public hearing after no other persons appeared wishing to speak.  
 
Commissioner Souto noted he would retract his previous motion to defer.  However, he indicated 
that when the Fontainebleau development was originally approved, the Keep The Bleau Green 
Committee, Inc. (the homeowner’s association) signed an agreement with the existing property 
owners and Shoma (the developer) that required Shoma to maintain the green spaces through 
Special Taxing Districts (STD’s); and the STD’s were to be given to the new homeowners, not 
the old ones.  He noted he was concerned that the old homeowners were being burdened, and he 
asked the Assistant County Attorney to clarify whether this was the case. 
 

Clerk’s Summary and Official Minutes 
Board of County Commissioners Zoning Hearing 

May 17, 2012 
Page 7 of 9 



Assistant County Attorney Coller said his understanding was that the new covenant identified 
Tracts A, B and C; those tracts corresponded to the green areas; and the covenant required that 
the tracts be maintained by their owners. 
 
Mr. Silva indicated that Mr. Coller was referring to #5 in the covenant, which provided: “The 
owners shall maintain all common areas including private drives, stone water retention lakes and 
green areas within Tracts A, B and C through an association.”  He stated that this would apply if 
the property was developed into a condominium; however, if it remained as apartments, the 
owner would still be required to maintain everything. 
 
Commissioner Souto said problems with the owners regarding the maintenance of the golf 
course were continual.  He asked whether matters were settled with neighbors and new owners 
concerning who would maintain the golf course and such areas.  
 
Mr. Silva indicated this responsibility for maintenance was clearly noted under #5 in the 
covenant.  He said prior to today’s (5/17) hearing, he had spoken with the applicant about 
continual maintenance issues, and he believed the applicant had begun to address them. 
 
Mr. Carcasses said the developer would finally be in charge of maintaining green areas on the 
eastern portion of Fontainebleau.  He spoke about previous and current attempts to reach an 
agreement with the County’s parks department (currently the Parks, Recreation, and Open 
Spaces Department, or PROS) for a park on the western portion of the development.  He clarified 
that a special taxing district was created on the western portion of Fontainebleau to help pay for 
the park.   
 
In response to Commissioner Souto’s inquiry regarding whether this application and the 
maintenance issues mentioned would be hindered by issues concerning the park that Mr. 
Carcasses referred to, Mr. Carcasses said they would not. 
 
Ms. Tapanes Llahues stated for the record that no changes would be made to the private 
settlement agreements as part of this process and that the maintenance of the green areas would 
remain in place.  She indicated that the developer, as the owner of 720 units, would join the 
Green Spaces Association and pay its fair share for the maintenance of the eastern part of the 
development, i.e., Tracts A, B and C. 
 
Commissioner Souto asked Mr. Carcasses to explain to him why the Parks, Recreation and Open 
Spaces Department (PROS) had not taken up the residents’ offer of land. 
 
Chairman Martinez indicated that this issue would best be discussed at committee level. 
 
Commissioner Sosa said she was pleased that the lakes would be reconfigured for safety and that 
the density of the area would be reduced.  She commended the neighbors for working with the 
developers for the good of their community. 
 

Clerk’s Summary and Official Minutes 
Board of County Commissioners Zoning Hearing 

May 17, 2012 
Page 8 of 9 



Commissioner Suarez noted he concurred with Commissioner Sosa and explained that the 
developers intended to reduce the number of units by 8 percent and the floor area ratio (FAR) by 
37.5 percent because of the height.  He said he agreed with Chairman Martinez that the 
Recreation and Cultural Affairs Committee should examine why the Parks, Recreation and Open 
Spaces Department had not taken up the residents’ offer of land. 
 
Ms. Tapanes Llahues noted the issue was that PROS wanted an active park while the neighbors 
wanted a passive park. 
 
In response to Commissioner Souto’s inquiry as to who would maintain the areas around the 
walls, Assistant County Attorney Coller advised that #5 in the covenant said the owners of the 
tracts would have to maintain them. 
 
Mr. Silva confirmed that Tracts A, B and C would be maintained by their owners. 
 
Commissioner Souto said that he wanted to avoid a situation where a few months from now, the 
grass would be overgrown and he would be called in to address the situation.  He asked Mr. Silva 
to ensure that the owners were completely aware of their responsibility to mow the grass 
regularly. 
 
 Ms. Tapanes Llahues assured Commissioner Souto that his point was clearly understood. 
 
It was moved by Commissioner Souto that Application 2 be approved as recommended by the 
Department of Permitting, Environment and Regulatory Affairs. This motion was seconded by 
Commissioner Sosa, and upon being put to a vote, passed by a vote of 12-0; (Commissioner 
Heyman was absent).  
 
The foregoing resolution was adopted by the Board and set forth in the Record of Resolutions 
and assigned Zoning # Z-13-12. 
 
All exhibits submitted for the record at the 5/17/12 meeting were transferred to the care, custody 
and control of the Department of Permitting, Environment and Regulatory Affairs. 
 
ADJOURNMENT 
There being no further business to come before the Board, the zoning hearing adjourned at 11:35 
a.m. 
 
Note:   These minutes were archived without the Chairman’s signature because the Chairman’s 
term of office expired before acquiring his signature. 
 
 
 

_____________________________________ 
Chairman Joe A. Martinez 

                    Board of County Commissioners Zoning Hearing  

Clerk’s Summary and Official Minutes 
Board of County Commissioners Zoning Hearing 

May 17, 2012 
Page 9 of 9 








































































































	May 17, 2012 Zoning Minutes
	Exhibits List
	Memo from Commissioner Heyman re: her absence from the May 16 & 17 CDMP, Zoning, and MPO meetings.
	KITS – Listing of Zoning Hearings
	Official Zoning Agenda
	Declaration of Restrictions and Site Plan
	Documents of an appeal to Miami-Dade Board of County Commissioners from the residents of “Elson Manors” aka “Broadmoore Community” re: Hearing #11-037 of King Metal Recycling, LLC
	Presentation – RD Fountainebleau LLC/Fountainebleau Lakes, public hearing No. 11-130
	Speaker’s Cards-Item 1
	Speaker’s Cards-Item 2
	Exhibits List submitted to the Planning and Zoning Department

